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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	JOHN E. ORBECK, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

UNIVERSITY OF ALASKA, FAIRBANKS, 

                           (Self-insured) Employer,

                                                            Defendant.
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	          FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  199514747
        AWCB Decision No. 03-0295

         Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska

         on December 12, 2003



We heard the employee's mental stress claim for temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits, temporary partial disability (“TPD”) benefits, permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) benefits, medical benefits, transportation costs, penalty, interest, attorney fees, and legal costs in Fairbanks, Alaska, on October 16, 2003.  Paralegal Assistant Peter Stepovich represented the employee; and attorney Michael McConahy represented the employer and insurer.  In an interlocutory decision, 
 we reopened the record to allow additional briefing.  The last pleading was filed on November 28, 2003.  We closed the record when we next met, December 11, 2003.

ISSUES

(1)  
Is the employee’s claim barred under the statute of limitation at AS 23.30.105(a)?

(2)  
Did the employee suffer a compensable mental injury in the course and scope of her work for the employer, under AS 23.30.120(c) and AS 23.30.395(17)?

(3)  
Is the employee entitled to an award of TTD benefits, under AS 23.30.185?

(4)  
Is the employee entitled to an award of TPD benefits, under AS 23.30.200?

(5)  
Is the employee entitled to an award of PPI benefits, under AS 23.30.190?

(6) 
Is the employee entitled to an award of medical benefits, under AS 23.30.095?

(7) 
Is the employee entitled to an award of medical transportation costs, under AS 23.30.095, 8 AAC 45.082(d), and 8 AAC 45.084?

(8) 
Is the employee entitled to an award of penalties, under AS 23.30.155, on compensation benefits due and not timely paid?

(9) 
Is the employee entitled to an award of interest, under 8 AAC 45.142, on compensation benefits due and not timely paid?

(10) 
Is the employee entitled to an award of attorney fees and legal costs under AS 23.30.145?

BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE RELEVANT EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENTS

The history of this case is extensive and complicated.  The documentary record fills two bankers’ boxes with medical records, work-grievance records, discovery dispute records, and other pleadings related to the employee’s claims.  Although we have reviewed the entire documentary and hearing record, we here address only the records and testimony essential to our decision on the issues in dispute.  

The employee completed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness on August 1, 1995, reporting he suffered a mental stress injury on July 19, 1995, resulting from “unnecessary stress from supervision” while working as an electrician for the employer in the electrical shop of the employer’s university physical plant.  The employee saw licensed clinical social worker Michael Schmoker on July 19, 1995, who reported the employee was struggling with impulse control, wanting “to shoot my boss.”
  Mr. Schmoker noted the employee also had family pressures and alcohol abuse.
  Mr. Schmoker saw the employee and his wife the following day, discussed the employee’s union-related difficulties at work, and identified the major stress as the employee’s belief his supervisor was being unfair.
  Mr. Schmoker recommended the employee take time off work.
  He diagnosed

 Impulse Control Disorder
 and Adjustment Disorder,
 and counseled the employee through December 27, 1995.
  At the employer’s request to justify time off work, the employee saw David Cammack, M.D. on August 9, 1995.  Dr. Cammack wrote a letter to John Phillips, the employer’s Physical Plant supervisor, restricting the employee from returning to the stress at work for at least two weeks, and referring the employee back to Mr. Schmoker.
  The employer filed a Controversion Notice on August 16, 1995, denying benefits, asserting it had no evidence the employee’s alleged stress was extraordinary or unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in a comparable work environment.
  

On December 18, 1995, the employee saw psychiatrist Anthony Blanford, M.D., who noted the employee had been off work from July until September 25, 1995, and sought help from Blanford following an incident over a cancelled meeting regarding his grievances at the office of Jeanne Freemann, the employer’s Director of Personnel, on December 13, 1995.
  He also noted family stress, and increasing alcohol consumption.
  He felt the alcohol use should not be diagnosed as alcohol abuse, because it had not interfered with his work or  home life.
  He noted no history of previous psychiatric illness, and diagnosed Major Depressive Disorder, conflicts at work and job stress.
  He prescribed Zoloft and directed the employee to stop drinking alcohol.
  The employee’s condition persisted, and on January23, 1996, Dr. Blanford restricted the employee from work for six weeks,
 and subsequently extended the work-restriction.
  Dr. Blanford continued to treat the employee, releasing him to part-time work on April 29, 1996.
  In a report on May 21, 1995, Dr. Blanford indicated the employee’s major depressive disorder arose from work stress, but that he had responded to treatment, was medically stable, was expected to suffer no permanent or partial disability, and could return to full time work on June 1, 1996.
 

The employee returned to Dr. Blanford’s care on June 30, 1997, reporting he was no longer having difficulties at work, but was becoming moody and fatigued.
  Dr. Blanford again began prescribing Zoloft.

The employee filed an Application for Adjustment of Claim on August 23, 1997, asserting he suffered a work-induced depressive disorder and claiming various benefits.
  The employer filed a Controversion Notice on September 22, 1997, again denying benefits.
  The employee filed an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on December 22, 1997.  Intense discovery disputes followed, resulting in an interlocutory decision ordering discovery,
 and an unsuccessful petition for review of the discovery order.

At the request of the employer, Eugene Klecan, M.D. examined the employee on March 18, 1998.
  In his report, Dr. Klecan found the employee was suffering no psychiatric disorder, but recommended continued prescription of Zoloft as a preventative measure against the recurrence of a possible familial endogenous depression disorder.
  Dr Klecan noted the employee’s report concerning his alcohol use, and his discontinuance of hard liquor at the direction of Dr. Blanford.
  Dr. Klecan felt the employee’s alcohol use had been a significant source of stress.
  He believed the employee’s work stress was a significant, but not predominant cause of any mental injury the employee may have suffered in 1995-1996.

We ordered a second independent medical examination (“SIME”)
 of the employee by psychiatrist Greg McCarthy, M.D., on June 2, 1998.  In his SIME report, Dr. McCarthy diagnosed the employee to have suffered Major Depressive Disorder, Single Episode, in full remission, and Alcohol Abuse in Full, Sustained Remission.
  Dr. McCarthy felt that the employee’s work relationship with his supervisor was the primary stressor causing his depression.  He felt the employee had no objectively-measurable changes in his condition for at least 60 days, as of May 24, 1996.
  Dr. McCarthy did not believe the employee’s work situation was unusual or extraordinary, except for the “whistle-blowing concerning his supervisor.
  He felt the employee was medically stable and able to return to work.
   

In a prehearing conference on July 16, 2003, the Board Designee set the employee’s claims for hearing on October 16, 2003.
  On October 10, 2003, the employee filed an affidavit of attorney fees and legal costs totaling $10,319.70.   

As a preliminary matter in the hearing on October 16, 2003, the employee argued the employer had not timely raised its defenses that the employee’s claim should be barred under the statutes of limitation at AS 23.30.105(a) and AS 23.30.110(c), and under the equitable doctrine of laches.  The employer argued it had raised and preserved these defenses in its early pleadings, and that those issues should be decided by us.  

In the hearing on October 16, 2003, the employee testified he was involved in organizing the employer’s workforce while working as an electrician, and was elected statewide president of the University of Alaska Classified Employee’s Association
 (“union”) in 1993, became a contract negotiator, and continued as an active official and member of the union until his retirement on May 30, 1998.  He testified he “blew the whistle” on his supervisor, Electrical Shop Supervisor Les Olson, for appropriating the employer’s materials for personal projects in 1994.  He testified his working relationship with his supervisor subsequently deteriorated.  He testified that the other electricians were given written daily assignments, but that he was required to wait in the shop for personal assignment by his supervisor, and that he was systematically assigned the most difficult and unpleasant tasks, and selectively monitored.  He cited examples of being singled out and ordered to change the sewage submersible pump in the university pig farm in winter, and being ordered to change exterior, elevated streetlights and wiring problems at –30 and –40 degrees F.  He testified that in 1995 and 1996 he filed grievances
 concerning 14 disputes related to conflicts with his supervisor over union activities, overtime, back pay, sick leave, being singled out for job assignments and monitoring, suspension without pay, and job classification.  The employee testified 3 of the grievance issues were eventually moot, and that he believes eleven of them were recommended to be resolved in his favor by a mediator.
 

The employee testified he has worked on a number of short-term jobs since retiring.  He testified he has continued to be treated with Zoloft, and now Effexor, because he now needs the medication to preserve his mental stability.  The employee provided a number of pay stubs to show he was not able to work full time when he was attempting to return to work between July 1995 and December 1995.  When asked on cross-examination about a cruise he took with his wife in March and April of 1996, he testified the cruise had been scheduled eight or nine earlier, and Dr. Blanford had told him it may have been helpful to his condition.

Following the mediation report on March 1, 1996,
 the employer, the union, and the employee signed a Letter of Agreement transferring the employee to the university power plant, under other supervision, removing certain memos of his supervisor from the employee’s personnel file, and awarding the employee certain back pay, and setting up a unique mediation procedure for the employee, if he has further, unresolved disputes.
  After the employee’s transfer, the record reflects no further grievances or progressive discipline until his retirement. 

At the hearing, Dr. Blanford testified the employee had a family history of mood disorder, and probably had a predisposition.  Nevertheless, he testified that to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, the predominant cause of the employee’s mental illness was work stress.  He testified he found the employee’s depressive disorder medically stable on May 21, 1996, and at the time believed the employee suffered no PPI.  However, at the hearing, he testified he has not yet actually attempted to rate the employee for possible PPI under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (“AMA Guides”).  He testified he last treated the employee in 1998.  He testified the employee’s work-related single-episode depression likely made him more susceptible to recurring episodes of depression.  

John Anzalone testified he worked as an electrician from approximately 1980 through 2001 in the employer’s Physical Plant, many of those years with the employee.  He testified the employee and another union activist, Cotton Rozelle, were systematically assigned the more difficult and less desirable outside work in winter.  He testified the employee was required to wait in the break room for daily personal assignments from his supervisor, and made to report his time in 20 minute intervals, neither of which any of the other electricians were required to do.  He felt the supervisor “picked on John.”

Cotton Rozelle testified he worked as an electrician for the employer from 1979 through 1999.  He testified he worked with the employee, and also was active with the employee in organizing the union.  He testified that, in his perception, the management “did not care for the union” and used the employee as a scapegoat.  He testified the employee was singled out, closely watched and assigned the difficult jobs, and it was apparent the employee was under stress. 

Robert Watts testified he is the APEA northern regional union manager, and that he handled the employee’s grievances.  He testified concerning his interactions with Ms. Freeman and the former Physical Plant supervisor, Mr. Phillips, on behalf of the employee.  He testified there had been much resistance to organizing the employer’s classified workers, that the employee had been the key union person in the employer’s Physical Plant, and that in his opinion, the employee had been “singled out” by the employer.  He testified the employer’s administrators admitted following the employee around, but simply asserted they had a right to do so.  He testified the employer’s administrators resisted allowing the employee to file rebuttals in his personnel file.  He testified he had to file a larger number of grievances on behalf of the employee than for any other union member.  He testified that the grievances were eventually successfully resolved.  

Luke Hopkins, the  Superintendent of the employer’s Physical Plant, testified he had been Mr. Olsen’s supervisor when the employee had filed the grievances.  He testified he was aware of no bad faith discipline or treatment of the employee.

In the hearing and in his brief, the employee recognized the presumption of compensability does not apply to a mental stress claim, but he argued he had been subjected to unusual and extraordinary treatment.  He argued the evidence shows he had been harassed, discriminated against, and intimidated, and that the employer’s actions had not been taken in good faith.  He argued this treatment was not a result of his work product, but a result of his union activities.  He argued the employer failed to provide any evidence to rebut this.  He argued his treating physician found his work environment was the predominant cause of his depression.  He argued that, based on Dr. Blanford’s opinion that his work injury made him permanently more susceptible to depression, and based on the Alaska Supreme Court’s rationale in Leslie Cutting v. Bateman,
 we should find that this work-related psychological condition is ongoing.

In the hearing and in its brief, the employer noted the employee has the burden of showing the predominant cause of his depression was extraordinary and unusual actual events which did not arise in good faith discipline or other job action taken by the employer.  The employer argued Dr. Klecan’s report shows the employee did not suffer any injury as a result of his work.  It argued both Drs. Klecan and McCarthy were presented with the compensability definition for his claim, and found the employee did not meet the criteria.  It also argued Dr. Blanford had never specifically found the employee’s condition met the criteria of the statute.  The employer noted that all three physicians found the employee medically stable by the winter or spring of 1996.

The employer also argued the employee had not been subjected to any unusual or extraordinary treatment in his progressive discipline or in his pursuit of his grievances.  It argued the employee was an experienced negotiator and had successfully engaged in adversarial processes long before, and long since, this dispute was resolved in 1996.  It argued he had the motive, opportunity, and inclination to develop this claim.  

We issued an interlocutory decision and order on November 5, 2003,
 finding that neither AS 23.30.110(c) nor the equitable doctrine of laches bars the employee’s claim.  We allowed the parties to submit additional three-page briefing by November 17, 2003, concerning the statute of limitations at AS 23.30.105(a).

In the employer’s supplemental brief, it asserted it raised the AS 23.30.105(a) defense in it’s Amended Answer,
 filed on December 24, 1997, and in the July 16, 2003 Prehearing Conference Summary the employer’s Answers were noted as being at issue for the hearing.
  Accordingly, it argued, the employee had notice of this defense.  The employer argued the employee signed his Report of Occupational Injury or Illness on August 1, 1995, indicating he suffered “mental stress” from his work, but he failed to file his Application for Adjustment of Claim until August 26, 1997.  The employer argued the employee knew of his claimed injury and its relation to his work, and he was actually missing work for the condition when he completed the injury report.  Because he waited more than two years to file his claim, the claim is barred under AS 23.30.105(a

In the employee’s supplemental brief, he argued several Prehearing Conference Summaries failed to mention the employer’s defense under AS 23.30.105(a), or the employer’s Amended Answer.  The final Prehearing Conference Summary did mention the defenses in the employer’s “answers,” but did not specify what those defenses were.  It argued the “boilerplate” listing of defenses in the Amended Answer, with no specific mention of it thereafter, did not give adequate notice that this issue would actually be addressed in the hearing.  He requests that we refuse to consider this issue.

Additionally, the employee filed a brief written statement on November 17, 2003,
 asserting he had numerous conversations with Board Designee Sandra Stuller over the years concerning what he needed to do to adhere to all time lines, and that he did everything he could to get the matter before us.  This statement was filed directly, not through his attorney.

On November 20, 2003, the employee filed another, supplemental memorandum, arguing the employee had been continuously exposed to mental stress from the employer’s bad faith actions into 1996.  He argued he returned to work full time following his injury report, and it was not until this attempt failed on or about November 1995, that he understood the full disabling impact of his injury.  Again citing Leslie Cutting v. Bateman,
 the employee argued the claim should not be barred under AS 23.30105(a).

The employer filed an Objection to Unauthorized Contact / Pleadings on November 21, 2003, asserting the employee was attempting to introduce additional, ex parte, evidence and argument into the record without an opportunity for rebuttal.  It requested the late-filed memorandum and statement be excluded from consideration.

On November 28, 2003, the employee filed an Objection to Employer’s Memorandum Dated 11/17/2003 and Reply to Employer’s Opposition to Unauthorized Contact, arguing the employer’s supplemental brief of November 17, 2003 was four pages in length, and should be excluded from consideration for exceeding the limits placed in our decision and order.  The employee also argued he filed and served the supplemental argument and information when he realized our order authorized a full discussion of AS 23.30.105(a), not just whether that defense was properly raised.  He also argued the employer was served and responded, so the pleadings were not ex parte.  

We closed the record when we next met, December 11, 2003.  We here decide all remaining claims and defenses.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
DOES AS 23.30.105(a) BAR THE EMPLOYEE’S CLAIM?

AS 23.30.105(a) provides, in part:



The right to compensation for dis​ability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement..., except that if payment of compen​sation has been made without an award on account of the injury or death, a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.041, 23,30,180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215.  It is additionally provided that, in the case of latent defects pertinent to and causing compen​sable disabili​ty, the injured employee has full right to claim as shall be deter​mined by the board, time limitations notwithstanding.

Concerning the parties’ objections to each other’s final briefing:  Because we ordered all briefing to be submitted by December 7, 2003, we decline to consider the memoranda and statements filed by the employee after that date.
  Because the employer’s December 17, 2003 brief was four pages in length, exceeding the three page limit of our order, we will decline to consider the fourth page of the brief.

We interpret AS 23.30.105(a) to be a procedural statute of limitations.
  Procedural statutes apply retrospectively to ongoing claims for injuries that occurred prior to the date of the statutory enactment.
    We will apply the current version of AS 23.30.105(a),
 as quoted above. 
  

In Larson's Worker's Compensation Law, professor Larson discusses the issues to be con​sidered in determining whether the statute of limitations for filing a claim for workers' compensation has begun to run:


The time period for notice of claim does not begin to run until the claimant, as a reason​able person, should recognize the nature, seriousness and probable compen​sable character of his injury or disease.
 

In Morrison-Knudsen Co. v. Vereen,
 the Alaska Supreme Court found the purpose of this statute of limitations is to insure that employers have reasonable, timely the opportunity to investigate and defend against claims.
  We first note that the employer has been aware of and able to investigate the employee's injury, medical condition, treatment, and claims for many years, at least since Dr. Cammack’s letter to the employer on August 9, 1995.  As a practical matter, this addresses the purpose of AS 23.30.105(a).
  

In Collins v. Arctic Builders,
 the Alaska Supreme Court found an employee must have “chargeable knowledge”
 of the "nature of [her] disability"
 to start the running of the two year period under AS 23.30.105(a).  In Egemo v. Egemo Construction Co.,
 the Court held that the statute of limitations at AS 23.30.105(a) started running only if the injured worker (1) knows of the disability, (2) knows of its relationship to the employment, and (3) must actually be disabled from work.
  The Court also held that a claim is not “ripe,” requiring filing under AS 23.30.105(a) until the work injury causes wage loss.
  It is the “inability to earn wages because of a work-related injury” that triggers the running of AS 23.30.105(a).
  Additionally, in Leslie Cutting Inc. v. Bateman,
 the Alaska Supreme Court clarified that when an injured worker believed a condition was controlled by medication, the statute of limitations at AS 23.30.105(a) started running only when the worker discovered that the treatment no longer controlled the disability;
 “the mere awareness of the disability’s full physical effects is not sufficient” to trigger the statute.

Based on our review of the record, we find the employer was aware of the employee’s psychological condition and it’s possible work relation from the time of Dr. Cammack’s letter to the employer on August 9, 1995, at the latest.  We find the employer had ample, timely opportunity to investigate and defend against any possible claims by the employee.  Based on the preponderance of the evidence in the record, we find the employee continued to attempt to return to work, and to control his psychological difficulties through counseling and medication, until Dr. Blanford restricted him from work on a continuous, ongoing basis, beginning January 23, 1996.  We find that date is when the employee fully realized his treatment could not control his disability.
  That date is less than two years before his claim.  In accord with the Court’s rationale in Morrison-Knudsen Co. v. Vereen
 and Leslie Cutting Inc. v. Bateman,
 we find the employee’s claim is not barred under AS 23.30.105(a).

II.
DID THE EMPLOYEE SUFFER A COMPENSABLE MENTAL INJURY IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT?

AS 23.30.395(17) defines "injury" in pertinent part:


"[I]njury" means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the course of employment . . . "injury" does not include mental injury caused by mental stress unless it is established that (A) the work stress was extraordinary and unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in a comparable work environment, and (B) the work stress was the predominant cause of the mental injury; the amount of work stress shall be measured by actual events; a mental injury is not considered to arise out of and in the course of employment if it results from a disciplinary action, work evaluation, job transfer, layoff, demotion, termination, or similar action, taken in good faith by the employer[.]  (Emphasis added).

The statutory presumption of compensability for a physical injury claim does not apply to a claim of mental injury caused by work-related stress.
  In Williams v. State of Alaska,
  our Supreme Court held:


To prevail, [Employee] had to establish by a preponderance of the evidence, without benefit of the presumption of compensability, that: (1) "the work stress was extraordinary and unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in a comparable work environment"; and (2) the work stress, as measured by actual events, "was the predominant cause of the mental injury. . . . [E]ach element of the test for mental injury arising from work-related stress is mandatory. . . ."  (Emphasis in original).

Because the statutory presumption of compensability does not apply to the employee's mental injury claim, he must prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true.
  Claims for a mental injury must be based on actual events, not on an employee's perception of the events.
  For mental injuries arising from work-related stress, the Alaska Supreme Court requires that we must find each element of the test has been met independently before we can find the claim compensable.
 
Based on our review of the full written record, and especially the testimony of the witnesses, we find the preponderance of the evidence indicates the employee was systematically subjected to disparate and unfavorable work assignment, monitoring, and other forms of treatment in his work.  Although the employer argues this disparate treatment should be regarded as good faith discipline or the normal tensions involved in union employee / management relations, we find this characterization does not fit the facts available in the record.  The record reflects the employee and his fellow workers regarded the treatment as hostile and punitive, and we find that testimony credible.
  We find the work stresses to which the employee was suggested were extraordinary and unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by his fellow electricians or by other individuals in a comparable work environment.

The records of Drs. Cammack, Blanford, and McCarthy, and of Mr. Schmoker, all indicate they regarded the employee’s mental stress as predominantly arising from his work.  Drs.  Blanford and McCarthy specifically found the employee suffered from an episode of major depression, predominantly caused by the employee’s work stress.  Dr. Klecan found the employee was not suffering any mental injury at the time of the EME examination, but suggested that work stress would probably have been a significant, but not predominant, cause of an earlier depression episode.  Based on our review of all the available record, and especially based on the contemporaneous opinions of his treating psychiatrist, Dr. Blanford, we find the preponderance of the medical evidence indicates the employee suffered a single-episode major depression, predominantly caused by the actual events his work.  We conclude this condition was compensable under AS 23.30.120(c) and AS 23.30.395(17).

We find the preponderance of the evidence indicates the disability from that episode ended as of his release to work on June 1, 1996; and that the medical and psychiatric care for that episode concluded with his session with Dr. Blanford on May 21, 1996.  Based on Dr. Blanford’s report of May 21, 1996, we find that he was medically stable as of that date.  

Dr. Blanford testified that the employee’s episode of work-related depression made him more susceptible to future depressive episodes.  Based on this, the employee argues he should be entitled to continuing benefits for his ongoing mental care needs.  As noted above, stress-caused mental injury benefit claims enjoy no presumption, and must be proved a preponderance of the evidence to be predominantly caused by work stress.  We find no evidence in the record to indicate the employee’s ongoing psychological episodes are predominantly caused by the stress of his former work.  Accordingly, we deny this aspect of his claim.   

III.
TTD AND TPD BENEFITS
AS 23.30.185 provides:


In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

AS 23.30.200(a) provides, in part:


In case of temporary partial disability resulting in decrease of earning capacity the compensation shall be 80 percent of the difference between the injured employee's spendable weekly wages before the injury and the wage earning capacity of the employee after the injury … to be paid during the continuance of the disability . . . .  Temporary partial disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."
 

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries.  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
 

To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) she has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  In this case, we find the testimony of the employee, the counseling records of Mr. Schmoker, and the medical records of Drs. Cammack and Blanford indicate that the employee’s work stress rendered him unable to work for periods of time between July 19, 1995 and June 1, 1996.  We find this testimony and these records are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) for the employee’s claim for TTD and TPD benefits.

There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work‑related symptoms or disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the symptoms or disability are work‑related.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
   

As noted above, we find the employee’s major depression episode during 1995 and 1996 was caused by work stress.   We can find no substantial evidence in the record to rebut the presumption of the employee's entitlement to TTD or TPD benefits during the periods he was recommended to restrict his work by his counselor or physicians during that period.
  

However, AS 23.30.185 and AS 23.30.200 do limit the duration of TTD and TPD to the date of medical stability.  AS 23.30.395(21) defines medical stability:  

"[M]edical stability" means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional 
medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for addi​tional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measur​able improvement for a period of 45 days; "this presump​tion may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence . . . .

As discussed above, based on the report of the employee’s treating psychiatrist, we find the employee reached medical stability as on May 21, 1996.  Upon further review of the record, we find no clear and convincing evidence to rebut that finding.  We conclude the employee is not entitled to TTD or TPD benefits after that date.

Accordingly, we conclude the employee is entitled to TTD or TPD benefits during periods of disability between July 19, 1995 and May 21, 1996.
  Based on the medical restrictions and the employee’s wage records, we direct the parties to attempt to determine and stipulate to the periods of temporary total and partial disability between those dates.  We will keep the record open to receive the parties’ stipulation for 28 days following the filing of this decision and order.  We retain jurisdiction under AS 23.30.130, pending the receipt of the stipulation. 

IV.
PPI BENEFITS
At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.190 provided, in part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $135,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum,  except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . ."

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . .

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall he reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.

AS 23.30.190(b) is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be calculated under the AMA Guides.  We have consistently followed this statute in our decisions and orders.
  The record contains no rating of the employee under the AMA Guides.  We conclude there is no basis, on the present record, to award PPI benefits under AS 23.30.195.  Accordingly, we must dismiss this claim.

V.
MEDICAL AND RELATED TRANSPORTATION BENEFITS
AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides, in part: 

Unless the employer disputes the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives . . .  an itemization of the dates of travel and transportation expenses for each date of travel.

Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).
  Reasonable transportation, meals, and lodging related to treatment are compensable under AS 23.30.095(a), 8 AAC 45.082(d), and 8 AAC 45.084.
  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment would still be compensable, and the employer would still be liable for continuing medical benefits under subsection 95(a).
    

The Alaska Supreme Court has specifically applied the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) to claims for medical benefits.
  Additionally, in Olson v. AIC/Martin, J.V.,
 the Court directly applied the presumption to claims for medical transportation related expenses.  

As noted above, in claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection and raise the presumption.  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation and compensability.
  In the instant case, the medical records from Drs. Cammack and Blanford, and the counseling records of Mr. Schmoker, reflect that the employee suffered a work-related depression, requiring an extended course of psychological treatment, including counseling and medication.  As noted above, we find that the employee’s work stress related condition extended from July 19, 1995 through May 21, 1996.  We find these counseling and medical reports are sufficient medical evidence to raise the presumption of the compensability for the claimed treatment as well as any related transportation benefits.  We retain jurisdiction under AS 23.30.130, if any disputes arise over these benefits. 

In Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held specific medical treatment sought by an injured worker within two years of an injury is compensable, unless the employer can meet the “heavy burden” of proving such care is unreasonable, unnecessary and outside the scope of accepted medical practice.  The Court’s decision develops the presumption analysis, as first articulated in Carter, by making the employer’s burden of rebutting the compensability of a particular treatment much greater than a “preponderance of the evidence.”  Between two legitimate, yet contradictory opinions about the efficacy of specific treatment, the employee may choose to follow the recommendations of his/her own physician.  The employer must demonstrate the treatment is neither reasonable, necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  

We note that the medical benefits
 between July 19, 1995 and May 21, 1996 were claimed by the employee within the two-year time limit of Hibdon.
  In our review of the record of this case, we cannot find medical evidence to show the claimed medical benefits were not reasonable, not necessary, and not within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  Based on our review of the record, we will award the claimed psychological and medical care during that period.  We will direct the employer to pay related transportation costs, in accord with 8 AAC 45.082(d) and 8 AAC 45.084.
  

VI.
PENALTY UNDER AS 23.30.155(e)

AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days, except where the board determines that payment in installments should be made monthly or at some other period. . . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment. . . .

The employee gave the employer notice he considered himself to have suffered a work-related injury by completing a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness on August 1, 1995, reporting he suffered injury on July 19, 1995 resulting from “unnecessary stress from supervision.”  The employer served and filed a Controversion Notice on August 16, 1995, denying benefits, asserting it had no evidence the employee’s alleged stress was extraordinary or unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in a comparable work environment.  The employer’s Controversion Notice was timely under AS 23.30.155(d).  Therefore, no penalty is due under the terms of AS 23.30.155(e). 

VII.
INTEREST
8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

(a) If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under 
an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation

. . . .

(b) The employer shall pay the interest 

. . . .


(3) on late-paid medical benefits to 

(A) the employee or, if deceased, to the employee's beneficiary or estate, if the employee has paid the provider or the medical benefits . . . or



(C) to the provider if the medical benefits have not been paid. 

For injuries which occurred before July 1, 2000, our regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate of 10.5% per annum, as provided at AS 45.45.010, from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  The Courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  Accordingly, we will award interest to the employee, in accord with 8 AAC 45.142(a)&(b)(3)(A), on all benefits and medical benefits from the dates on which those benefits were due. 

VIII.
ATTORNEY FEES AND LEGAL COSTS 

AS 23.30.145 provides, in part:


(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.  

8 AAC 45.180 provides, in part:


(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating 
that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. 

We find the payment of the benefits claimed by the employee was resisted by the action of the employer.
  The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee and costs under subsection 145(b) for the benefits obtained.  We found the employer liable for the claimed benefits.  Consequently, we can award fees and costs.
  Subsection 145(a) provides the minimum amount of attorney fees we can award.  Subsection 145(b) requires the award of an attorney's fee to be reasonable.  We have examined the record of this case, and the employee's written itemization of fees and costs.  The employee’s fee affidavit itemizes $10,319.70 in attorney fees and legal costs expended on the workers’ compensation claim proceeding.  

Now, having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the tenacious resistance of the employer, as well as the amount of benefits resulting from the services obtained, we find the above-mentioned attorney fees were reasonable for the employee’s largely-successful prosecution of this claim.  We will award a total of $10,319.70 as reasonable attorney fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b).  

ORDER

(1)  
The employee’s claims are not barred by the statute of limitation at AS 23.30.105(a).

(2)  
The employer shall provide the employee TTD and TPD benefits, under AS 23.30.185 and AS 23.30.200, for periods of disability between July 19, 1995 and May 21, 1996.  We direct the parties to attempt to determine and stipulate to the periods of temporary total and partial disability between those dates, based on the medical restrictions and the employee’s wage records.  We will keep the record open to receive the parties’ stipulation for 28 days following the filing of this decision and order.  We retain jurisdiction under AS 23.30.130, pending the receipt of the stipulation. 

(3)  
The employee’s claim for PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190 is denied and dismissed.

(4) 
The employer shall provide benefits for the employee’s counseling, medical and psychiatric care, and any related transportation under AS 23.30.095, between July 19, 1995 and May 21, 1996, under AS 23.30.095, 8 AAC 45.082(d), and 8 AAC 45.084.

(5) 
The employee’s claim for penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) is denied and dismissed.

(6) 
The employer shall pay the employee interest, under 8 AAC 45.142, on benefits due and not timely paid.

(7) 
The employer shall pay the employee attorney fees and legal costs, under AS 23.30.145, totaling $10,319.70.


Dated at Fairbanks, Alaska this 12th day of December, 2003.





ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD
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Dorothy Bradshaw, Member

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of JOHN E. ORBECK employee / applicant; v. UNIVERSITY OF ALASKA, FAIRBANKS, self-insured employer / defendant; Case No. 199514747; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Fairbanks, Alaska, this 12th day of December, 2003.

                             

   _________________________________

      






Victoria J. Zalewski, Admin. Clerk
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